ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Richland County

R. Knox McMahon, Circuit Court Judge

---

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

DAQWAN M. JOHNSON,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2012-212696

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

ROBERT M. DUDEK  
Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**RECEIVED**

OCT 8 6 2014

**SC Court of Appeals**

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1.

Whether the court erred by ruling the case would have to go to trial where the defense objected to the state controlled docket, which was held unconstitutional in State v. Langford, 400 S.C. 421, 735 S.E.2d 471 (2012), and where the defense objected to the refusal to grant a continuance given the complexity of the case, and the number of witnesses involved?

2.

Whether the court erred by ruling the defense opened the door to evidence appellant was in a gang simply by agreeing in its opening statement that, while the murder committed by others may have been gang related appellant was not at the scene of the shooting, and evidence appellant was in a gang constituted highly prejudicial impermissible bad character evidence?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted by the Richland County Grand Jury for the offenses of murder and attempted murder. R. p. 868. The solicitor would later tell the jury in closing that the state did not have to prove appellant fired the fatal shots but that he was guilty under the theory of “hand of one is the hand of all” if the jury believed he was present with the other young men involved in the shooting. R. p. 793, l. 16 – 795, l. 20. Appellant’s case was called to trial on July 26, 2012, July 30, 2012–August 3, 2012, and August 8, 2012 before the Honorable R. Knox McMahon, and a jury. Appellant was represented by Greg Collins and John Newton. K. Luck Campbell, Meghan Walker, and Jeremiah Shellenberg, II were the assistant solicitors. R. p. 1.

At the conclusion of the trial the jury found appellant guilty on both counts. R. p. 865, l. 18 – 866, l. 3. Judge McMahon sentenced appellant to fifty years imprisonment for murder and thirty years imprisonment for attempted murder. R. p. 867, ll. 16-23.

This appeal follows:

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

Prior to trial Defense Counsel Collins noted that this case had been “noticed for trial many, many, many, many times. Dating back to the beginning of 2011, it has been scheduled for trial anywhere from six to eight different times.” Collins complained the state’s discovery “continued to trickle in . . .” R. p. 32, l. 5 – 51, l. 17.

Further, the defense recently learned there had been a federal indictment against about 37 Blood gang members in Richland County. Some of them were also apparently involved in the shooting in this case, which the state asserted was gang related. There was also a federal investigation involving this incident. R. p. 32, l. 5 – 51, l. 17. In addition, the defense also wanted to know the results of the Richland County gang database for its trial preparation. R. p. 50, l. 15 – 94, l. 24. R. p. 25, l. 3 – 28, l. 15.

Further, a key witness, Rontrell Henderson, who had implicated appellant in the shooting had been arrested “over the weekend.” Henderson allegedly now was telling the police he lied when he implicated appellant. The defense therefore urgently needed to interview Henderson who had not been appointed a lawyer yet. R. p. 28, l. 8 – 33, l. 10.

There were also the matter of Crime Stoppers tips outstanding about appellant, and the shooting. Defense counsel told the judge their subpoena had not been fully compiled with in this regard. R. p. 28, l. 16 – 95, l. 5.

Collins argued that the solicitors had complete control of the docket and he objected to the “Solicitor-controlled” docket because the defense had done “everything in our power to get ready” but the defense now faced the prospect of being forced to go to trial not adequately prepared because the solicitor controlled the docket. Counsel noted that this case was very complex, and there were many potential witnesses. The judge ruled that the

solicitors controlled the docket, he denied the motion, and directly cited S.C. Code § 1-7-330 in support of his ruling. R. p. 94, ll. 9-24.

Making this case more complex was the fact that the defense objected to any evidence about appellant being in a gang as inadmissible bad character evidence. The solicitor stated that she did not want to attack anyone's character but she claimed it was appellant's "beef that happened to be with the Bloods." She alleged appellant being in a gang led to the fatal shooting with rival gang. As will be seen infra, the defense did not offer any evidence, and it tested the state's case on cross-examination, and put the state to its burden of proof. R. p. 90, l. 9 – 94, l. 25.

### **Opening Statements**

In his opening statement, Assistant Solicitor Shellenberg told the jury that the victim "and some of the other witnesses you are going to hear from are gang members. They are know as the Bloods. Some of the other people you are going to hear from are members of the Folk Nation. Those are rival gangs. Ladies and Gentlemen, this is gang violence." R. p. 112, ll. 9-15.

Defense Counsel Newton responded in his opening statement:

What the State wants you to do is they want to talk about gang warfare, rival gangs, fighting each other, killing each other. That's what happened here. Okay? Five people went in to Gable Oaks Apartments and shot it up because they were fighting with another gang. **But Daqwan Johnson was not there. Okay?**

R. p. 115, l. 23 – 116, l. 3. (emphasis added).

As will be seen infra, from defense counsel's mere mention of gangs, in response to the state's opening argument, to tell the jury appellant was not present at the crime scene,

the trial judge would rule that the state could offer evidence appellant was a member of a gang because the door had been opened to it.

### **State's evidence**

Investigator Andrew Richbourg was a patrolman with the Columbia Police Department at the time of the shooting at the Gable Oaks Apartments in Eau Claire. He responded to a "shots fired" call and he observed a large group of people in the common grounds of the apartment complex. He was directed to Apartment E where the police observed a large amount of blood on the wall and the dead victim in the back room. Richbourg estimated there were about fifty people milling around outside of the apartment complex at the time. R. p. 125, l. 6 – 126, l. 22.

Kenneth St. John lived at the Gable Oaks Apartments with his five foster children. He remembered on the night of June 19, 2010 he heard thirty to forty gunshots. The shooting lasted for three to four minutes. St. John testified earlier, at about 12:30 that afternoon, his friend Mr. Whitney was going to the garbage can when a car drove by and the driver and passenger leaned out the window and started shooting at Whitney. R. p. 128, l. 12 – 132, l. 10. St. John did not get a good look at the shooters because they were wearing masks. R. p. 135, l. 3 – 136, l. 1.

The state introduced a security camera videotape through property manager Jerome Singleton. It merely showed the shooting. There was no assertion appellant was readily identified from the videotape. R. p. 143, l. 5 – 147, l. 23. The state also offered evidence that paperwork with appellant's name on it was found in a Buick that apparently had been riddled in bullets. However, the date of the paperwork in appellant's name was remote, R. p. 238, l. 3 – 239, l. 12.

Prior to the testimony of Marquez Prophet, the judge ruled that Prophet could make an in-court identification of appellant. Marquez was twenty years old and presently incarcerated at the Alvin S. Glenn Detention Center. R. p. 297, l. 8 – 298, l. 24.

The solicitor asked Prophet if he was in a gang and Prophet denied being in a gang. Prophet said he knew people in gangs, and he identified Terrance Patterson as one of them. R. p. 298, ll. 2-10. The solicitor then asked Prophet if he knew “who else do you hang with that’s in a gang?” Prophet answered “G-man [appellant].” R. p. 298, ll. 11-12. The defense immediately objected and the jury was removed from the courtroom. R. p. 298, ll. 14-22.

Defense counsel argued this was impermissible character evidence against appellant. Counsel noted: “the State has said that we said in our opening that this was gang-related activities; however, we are saying our client wasn’t involved in that. . . . We had a motion at the beginning of this trial asking - - [to remove] any references to that.” Counsel argued evidence that appellant was in a gang was inadmissible, and he asked that it be struck from the record as impermissible bad character evidence. R. p. 298, l. 11 – 299, l. 25.

The assistant solicitor repeated her pre-trial assertion that this gang membership evidence was not meant to be an impermissible comment on appellant’s “character.” She argued the state’s theory of the case was that this shooting was gang retaliation. R. p. 300, ll. 2-23.

The judge then noted that the defense had requested *voir dire* on gang activity and although the evidence of appellant’s bad character may not be admissible, the judge reasoned that this same evidence that appellant was allegedly in a gang could be admissible “on another issue.” The judge blamed the defense for mentioning the subject of gangs in its

opening statement, and wanting *voir dire* on the subject. “I don’t mean that by way of fussing.” R. p. 301, l. 23 – 303, l. 21.

Defense Counsel Newton further complained that if Prophet was not in a gang, how could he allege first-hand knowledge of appellant’s alleged gang affiliation. The judge responded: “I’m not at the Knights of Columbus, but I can guarantee you I can tell who might be there tonight.” Defense counsel again argued: “He’s not in a gang; therefore, he’s not there and wasn’t a part of it. That’s what we are saying, Your Honor. Again, I believe it was improper to go that route.” The judge overruled the defense objection. R. p. 301, l. 23 – 303, l. 21.

In the presence of the jury Prophet then testified that appellant was in a gang. R. p. 304, ll. 6-19. Prophet said appellant also drove a Buick which the state suspected may have been the vehicle from which shots were fired in the earlier shooting at the apartment complex. R. p. 310, l. 11 – 312, l. 19.

In addition, Prophet asserted appellant had been in a fight with a man named “Weeny,” and that the fight was over gangs. Prophet testified Weeny shot at them while he was in appellant’s car with two other men. Appellant was not present. Prophet said he did not know if Weeny was in a gang. Prophet said he telephoned appellant to tell him that his “car got shot up.” Prophet said no one got hurt and he said did not shoot back. Prophet said appellant was angry and told him to bring him his car back. R. p. 310, l. 11 – 312, l. 19.

Prophet maintained appellant then told the men “to get the guns.” Prophet claimed the men then retrieved assault rifles, other weapons and a handgun. They went to

the apartment building, and Prophet heard gunshots being fired. Prophet testified he did not know who had done the shooting. R. p. 311, l. 10 – 321, l. 18.

The state's physical evidence showed that .223 shells were found under appellant's bed at his grandmother's house. Two of these rounds found at the crime scene matched rounds found in appellant's weapon. R. p. 699, l. 1 – 700, l. 25.

Armed with the judge's approval that the defense opened the door to the gang evidence the state closed its case with the testimony of Vince Goggins of the Richland County Sheriff's Department gang unit. Goggins testified that a person [obviously appellant] who would change his name from "B-Man" to "G-Man" would be doing so as a sign of disrespect to the Blood gang. Goggins offered there were different sections of the Folk Nation in Columbia. R. p. 774, l. 23 – 779, l. 25.

Goggins also testified that the Bloods were formed in the 1970's in California, and the Folk Nation was a Chicago based gang that was formed in the prison system in that state. R. p. 777, ll. 9-23. The state's ended its case as follows:

Q. In 2010 you were with the gang unit then?

A. Yes, I was.

Q. How were the relationships between the Bloods and the Folk in 2010?

A. They have been rivalries since the inception of the Folk Nation and Bloods nation. So it has always been a rivalry here in Richland County as well.

Q. So violence between those two gangs, was that going on in 2010 here in Columbia?

A. Yes, it was.

R. p. 780, ll. 6-15.

## ARGUMENT

1.

The court erred by ruling the case would have to go to trial where the defense objected to the state controlled docket, which was held unconstitutional in *State v. Langford*, 400 S.C. 421, 735 S.E.2d 471 (2012), and where the defense objected to the refusal to grant a continuance given the complexity of the case, and the number of witnesses involved.

As seen, Defense Counsel Collins argued that the solicitors had complete control of the docket and he objected to the “Solicitor-controlled” docket because the defense had done “everything in our power to get ready” but the defense now faced the prospect of being forced to go to trial not adequately prepared because the solicitor controlled the docket. Counsel noted that this case was very complex, and there were many potential witnesses. The judge ruled that the solicitors controlled the docket, he denied the motion, and directly cited S.C. Code § 1-7-330 in support of his ruling. R. p. 94, ll. 9-24.

In *State v. Langford*, 400 S.C. 421, 735 S.E.2d 471 (2012) our Supreme Court held that the S.C. Code § 1-7-330 was unconstitutional. This Court found the issue preserved even though it was never raised to the trial judge. In the present case, defense counsel was correct and partially clairvoyant in objecting to the solicitors having exclusive control of the dockets for General Sessions court. The trial here, as seen above, cited S.C. Code § 1-7-330 in support of his ruling that the solicitor controlled the docket, and they had the right to call the present case to trial at the time of their choosing.

Our Supreme Court noted that the only reference to solicitors in the Constitution was in the Article creating the Judicial Department. S.C. Const. art. V, § 24. However, the section provides that the General Assembly shall provide by law for their duties. “To

that end, S. C. Code § 1-1-110 squarely places the solicitors in the Judicial Branch.”  
State v. Langford, 400 S.C. at 434, 735 S.E.2d at 478.

The Court in Langford held that “setting the trial docket therefore is the prerogative **of the court.**” Therefore the preparation of the docket being exclusively in the hands of the Circuit Solicitor, as stated in S.C. Code § 1-7-330, constituted “a complete invasion into the Court’s domain.” State v. Langford, 400 S.C. 421, 435, 735 S.E.2d at 478.

In Langford the defendant asserted prejudice because he was denied his right to a speedy trial, and because solicitor control allowed the solicitor to “judge shop.” The Supreme Court rejected a finding of prejudice under both alleged grounds.

Here, conversely, appellant asserted prejudice because this was a very complex case with many witnesses. As seen above, at the time the solicitor called the case to trial the defense was at a great disadvantage. Counsel needed more time to be ready for this complicated trial. Yet the judge ruled the defense was at the mercy of the solicitor because she controlled the docket, and had the unconstitutional power to choose the time the case was called to trial.

If the judge had continued the trial as requested defense counsel could have been prepared to handle the many issues that arose during this trial without the jury constantly being sent out of the courtroom as this record shows. There is every reason to think the jury would conclude the defense was attempting to hide evidence from them because they were constantly being removed from the courtroom since these matters could not be resolved pre-trial because of the late discovery.

The trial did indeed involve many witnesses and complex issues as defense counsel correctly argued to the court. The defense was attempting to obtain data on a “gang database” in Richland County for its trial preparation. A key witness had also recanted his statement against appellant immediately before trial, and the defense wanted to interview him with time for some reflection and trial strategy.

It is important to note that the judge’s ruling here was simply that the solicitor by statute controlled the docket, and the solicitor had called the case to trial. Appellant had stated meritorious grounds for a minimal continuance where appellant was incarcerated and the state was not prejudiced. Consequently, appellant should be granted a new trial given the highly unusual facts of this case.

The court erred by ruling the defense opened the door to evidence appellant was in a gang simply by agreeing in its opening statement that, while the murder committed by others may have been gang related appellant was not at the scene of the shooting, and evidence appellant was in a gang constituted highly prejudicial impermissible bad character evidence.

As seen above, the judge ruled that the defense opened the door to this gang evidence merely because it mentioned gang activity in its opening statement in response to the state's opening statement. The judge also found the defense wanting voir dire on the subject opened the door to evidence **appellant was in a gang.**

In Mitchell v. State, 298 S.C. 186, 379 S.E.2d 123 (1989), our Supreme Court reiterated that in a criminal case, the state cannot not attack the character of the defendant unless the defendant himself places his character at issue. See State v. McElveen, 280 S.C. 325, 313 S.E.2d 289 (1984); State v. Swords, 279 S.C. 554, 309 S.E.2d 750 (1983). In Mitchell v. State, the solicitor introduced evidence alleging appellant was a "mafia" member and introduced evidence that she selected different colors of candles for the people she knew. In addition, the state presented evidence that people would come to Mitchell's home to "work the candles." Mitchell v. State, 298 S.C. at 188, 379 S.E.2d at 125.

Here, the state introduced evidence over appellant's objection that he was a gang member. Particularly in Richland County, South Carolina, for the last several years "gang activity" has been a sore spot with many citizens, who are also jurors. Introducing evidence that appellant was a member of a gang was very damning evidence. This Court can take

judicial notice of the fact that the front page of yesterday's State Newspaper, October 22, 2013 was dominated with news stories about the importance of stopping gang activity.