ORIGINAL

**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

**Appeal from Richland County
Honorable R. Knox McMahon, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2012-212696**

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

DAQWAN MARQUELL JOHNSON,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

**ALAN WILSON
Attorney General**

**JOHN W. McINTOSH
Chief Deputy Attorney General**

**DONALD J. ZELENKA
Assistant Deputy Attorney General**

**WILLIAM EDGAR SALTER, III
Senior Assistant Attorney General**

**P. O. Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-6305**

**DANIEL EDWARD JOHNSON
Solicitor, Fifth Judicial Circuit
1701 Main Street, Third Floor
Columbia, SC 29201
(803) 576-1802**

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT.

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

In response to counsel's statement that he objected to this evidence, the trial judge stated, "Object to gang. Why do you have it in openings and why do you have it in *voir dire*? I don't

mean that by way of fussing.” **R. p. 302, lines 8-14.**

Rather than addressing this question, counsel asserted that Prophet could not have first-hand knowledge of Johnson’s gang membership. The trial judge rejected this position and he noted that the jury might not believe anything to which Prophet testified. **R. p. 302, line 15 – p. 303, line 8.**

Although he did not expressly use the expression, the trial judge ruled that the testimony was admissible as part of the *res gestae* of the charged offenses, and he referenced Chief Justice Toal’s dissenting Opinion in *State v. Smith*, 309 S.C. 442, 448-54, 424 S.E.2d 496; 500-03 (1992) (Toal, J., dissenting) (finding that evidence of murder defendant’s prior cocaine use was admissible as part of the *res gestae* of charged offenses). He correctly stated that the dissent’s theory of the *res gestae* in *Smith* is now the law. *See State v. Adams*, 322 S.C. 114, 121-22, 470 S.E.2d 366, 370-71 (1996). He then told counsel that “you can extract Mr. Johnson out of the gang. He’s not a member. But you can’t extract that out.” **R. p. 303, lines 9-21.**

Prophet thereafter testified that both T. and G-man, Johnson were in the Folk Nation gang. Prophet characterized Johnson as “my home boy” or his “[f]riend, [an] associate I hang with.” (Sic). He also hung out with T., or Terrance Patterson. **R. p. 304, line 3 – p. 305, line 6.**

Prophet thereafter testified that he also knew an individual nicknamed “Weeny.” He did not know whether Weeny was in a gang but he knew that G-man and Weeny had a fight “over a gang.” Weeny had shot at and hit Johnson’s Buick LeSabre, as Prophet, Walker and Campbell were riding on Farrow Road earlier the day of the murder. The men notified Johnson of the incident, and ultimately led to the retaliatory shooting at the apartment complex. **R. p. 307, line 20 – p. 310, line 17; p. 311, line 7 – p. 323, line 2.**

The next witness after Prophet was Detrick Walker, a/k/a “Shark.” Johnson did not

object to Walker's testimony that Walker, Johnson, Prophet, Patterson and Campbell were not members of Folk Nation but that they were associates of members of that gang. He likewise did not object to Walker's testimony that the Folk Nation and Bloods gangs do not "get along," that Johnson's beef was with Weeny, and that Weeny was a Blood. **R. p. 343, line 22 – p. 348, line 10; p. 360, lines 14-25. See also R. p. 377, lines 18-20.**

Johnson also did not object to the following testimony of Inv. Arthur Thomas, of the City of Columbia Police Department:

As we continued this investigation, we found that the incident itself was gang related. The area which I just showed you is known as a Blood gang territory. All subjects in that area are Bloods, and they protect that area.

We were receiving information that the perpetrators in this particular incident were Folk Nation members or associates and that there was an ongoing beef between them; ongoing shootings throughout the City and the County. So we decided to get with the task force and join together to look at it this particular situation.

R. p. 627, lines 2-13.

Johnson likewise did not object to testimony from the prosecution's gang expert, Sgt. Vince Scoggins, of the Richland County Sheriff's Department, even though his testimony had been the basis for Johnson's motion *in limine*. **R. pp. 774-81.** Sgt. Scoggins testified that the Bloods was a California street gang that was formed in the 1970's, "as a rivalry to the Crips street gang for protection purposes." On the other hand, the Folk Nation was an alliance of several Chicago based gangs that was formed in the prison system of Chicago. Collectively, these gangs are known as the Folk Nation. Both gangs have come to Columbia, South Carolina and Sgt. Scoggins has investigated them. **R. p. 777, line 15 – p. 78, line 3.**

Sgt. Scoggins also explained that gang members often are known by nicknames. He opined that Campbell's nickname, "B. K.," stands for "Blood Killer." Sgt. Scoggins further

opined that this “is typically the only time that you will see a Folk Nation gang member use B. without disrespecting them in some form or fashion,” since the letter B is disrespectful in the eyes of Folk Nation’s members. Sgt. Scoggins also opined that Johnson’s nickname of “G-man” showed that “he is a gangster under the Folk Nation line.” **R. p. 778, line 15 – p. 779, line 11.** According to Sgt. Scoggins, there has always been a rivalry between the Bloods and the Folk Nation. This was true in Richland County in 2010, and it remains true. **R. p. 780, lines 8-15.**

Finally, Johnson did not object to Senior Assistant Solicitor Campbell’s reference to the gang-related nature of the case or her other reference to gangs and gang involvement in closing argument. **R. p. 802, line 1 – p. 804, line 11; p. 807, line 17 – p. 810, line 16; p. 815, lines 5-10.**

B. Discussion.

There is no error. First, the only objection preserved for this Court’s review on direct appeal is Johnson’s objection to the testimony by his friend and co-defendant, Marquez “Noonie” Prophet, that “G-man” (Johnson) was in a gang (**R. p. 298, lines 11-22**) because this is the only specific testimony to which he objected and he did not renew his motion *in limine* to exclude the testimony of gang expert Sgt. Vince Scoggins, of the Richland County Sheriff’s Department when Sgt. Scroggins later testified. *See State v. Watts*, 321 S.C. 158, 167, 467 S.E.2d 272, 278 (Ct.App. 1996) (“To be preserved for appellate review, an issue must be both presented to and passed upon by the trial court”); *State v. Vanderbilt*, 287 S.C. 597, 340 S.E.2d 543 (1986) (“Issues not properly preserved at trial may not be raised for the first time on appeal”); *State v. Sullivan*, 277 S.C. 35, 45, 282 S.E.2d 838, 844 (1981); *United States v. Foster*, 652 F.3d 776, 787 (7th Cir. 2011) (“Appellants did not make a contemporaneous objection to this testimony and have waived their right to assert any error on appeal”); *State v. Dunbar*, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 693–94 (2003) (“In order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, it must

have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge. Issues not raised and ruled upon in the trial court will not be considered on appeal”); *State v. Moses*, 390 S.C. 502, 511, 702 S.E.2d 395, 400 (Ct.App.2010) (“ ‘[M]aking a motion *in limine* to exclude evidence at the beginning of trial does not preserve an issue for review because a motion *in limine* is not a final determination. The moving party, therefore, must make a contemporaneous objection when the evidence is introduced’ ”) (quoting *State v. Forrester*, 343 S.C. 637, 642, 541 S.E.2d 837, 840 (2001)); *State v. Wiles*, 383 S.C. 151, 156-57, 679 S.E.2d 172, 175 (2009) (same).

Addressing the issue that is preserved for review, it is clear that the trial judge’s ruling must be affirmed. First, procedure, Johnson “ ‘cannot complain of an error which his own conduct has induced.’ ” *State v. Stroman*, 281 S.C. 508, 513, 316 S.E.2d 395, 399 (1984), citing *State v. Worthy*, 239 S.C. 449, 465, 123 S.E.2d 835, 843 (1962). *See also State v. Robinson*, 305 S.C. 469, 474, 409 S.E.2d 404, 408 (1991); *State v. Washington*, 315 S.C. 108, 110, 432 S.E.2d 448, 448-49 (1993); *State v. Logan*, 279 S.C. 345, 347-48, 306 S.E.2d 622, 623-24 (1983). Indeed, the concept that a party may not take advantage of such “invited error” is well settled in both state and federal court. *Id. See also Miller v. City of Columbia*, 322 S.C. 224, 229-30, 471 S.E.2d 683, 686 (1996); *State v. Sullivan*, 277 S.C. 35, 45, 282 S.E.2d 838, 844 (1981) (appellant cannot complain of prejudice from admission of evidence if he opened the door to its admission); *State v. Culbreath*, 377 S.C. 326, 333, 659 S.E.2d 268, 272 (Ct.App.2008) (holding a defendant may open the door to what would be otherwise improper evidence through his own introduction of evidence or witness examination); *Drayton v. Evatt*, 312 S.C. 4, 10-11, 430 S.E.2d 517, 521 (1993); *United States v. Wellons*, 32 F.3d 117 (4th Cir. 1994); *Wilson v. Lindler*, 995 F.2d 1256 (4th Cir. 1993); *United States v. Falsia*, 724 F.2d 1339, 1342 (9th Cir.1983) (“where the defendant opens the door to an argument, it is ‘fair advocacy’ for the prosecution to enter”);

United States v. Foster, 652 F.3d 776, 787 (7th Cir. 2011).

As this Court explained in *Floyd v. Floyd*, 365 S.C. 56, 92, 615 S.E.2d 465, 484 (Ct.App. 2005):

The primary purpose for the rule is that of fairness and completeness of the information for making the decision. If a party chooses to forego the protection of a rule by introducing evidence the opposing party would not be permitted to go into, then it is unfair not to allow the opposing party to go into the matter and provide more information to the fact-finder.

Id. (quoting Danny R. Collins, *South Carolina Evidence* 2.9 (2d ed. 2000)). *See also Gibson v. Wright*, 403 S.C. 32, 43, 742 S.E.2d 49, 55 (Ct.App. 2013).

Thus, even if Johnson's gang membership or affiliation was otherwise inadmissible, the trial judge properly ruled that Johnson's opening statement had "opened the door" to the introduction of this evidence. In his opening, he argued that the killing was gang-related, but he suggest that he was not present when the shootings occurred and that his co-defendants actually were gang members who were willing to lie, to protect those above them in their gang hierarchy. **R. p. 115, line 23 – p. 116, line 3; p. 116, lines 10-18; p. 117, lines 3-19; p. 118, lines 19-22; p. 119, line 23 – p. 120, line 8.** As a matter of basic fairness, the State was properly allowed to present the challenged evidence. *Id.* *See also Worthy*, 239 S.C. at 465, 123 S.E.2d at 843; *Robinson*, 305 S.C. at 474, 409 S.E.2d at 408; *Sullivan*, 277 S.C. at 45, 282 S.E.2d at 844; *Foster*, 652 F.3d at 787.

Separate and apart from whether Johnson opened the door to introduction of his gang membership or affiliation, the trial judge properly found that the contested testimony was admissible as part of the *res gestae* of the charged offenses. Alternatively, it was admissible to explain the reluctance of witnesses to testify, as well as under Rule 404(b), SCRE, to prove motive, identity and a common scheme or plan, or as part of the *res gestae* of the indicted

offenses of murder and attempted murder.

This Court recently gave the following explanation of the *res gestae* theory of admissibility:

“The *res gestae* theory recognizes evidence of other bad acts may be an integral part of the crime with which the defendant is charged, or may be needed to aid the fact finder in understanding the context in which the crime occurred.” *State v. King*, 334 S.C. 504, 512, 514 S.E.2d 578, 582 (1999). “The evidence admitted must logically relate to the crime with which the defendant has been charged.” *Wiles*, 383 S.C. at 158, 679 S.E.2d at 176.

One of the accepted bases for the admissibility of evidence of other crimes arises when such evidence furnishes part of the context of the crime or is necessary to a full presentation of the case, or is so intimately connected with and explanatory of the crime charged against the defendant and is so much a part of the setting of the case and its environment that its proof is appropriate in order to complete the story of the crime on trial by proving its immediate context or the *res gestae* or the uncharged offense is so linked together in point of time and circumstances with the crime charged that one cannot be fully shown without proving the other ... [and is thus] part of the *res gestae* of the crime charged. And where evidence is admissible to provide this full presentation of the offense, [t]here is no reason to fragmentize the event under inquiry by suppressing parts of the *res gestae*.

State v. Adams, 322 S.C. 114, 122, 470 S.E.2d 366, 370–71 (1996) (alterations in original) (internal quotation marks omitted), overruled on other grounds by *State v. Giles*, 407 S.C. 14, 754 S.E.2d 261 (2014). “When evidence is admissible to provide this full presentation of the offense, there is no reason to fragmentize the event under inquiry by suppressing parts of the *res gestae*.” *State v. Preslar*, 364 S.C. 466, 474, 613 S.E.2d 381, 385 (Ct.App.2005) (internal quotation marks omitted). Under this theory, the temporal proximity of the prior bad act should be closely related to the charged crime. *State v. Owens*, 346 S.C. 637, 652, 552 S.E.2d 745, 753 (2001), overruled on other grounds by *State v. Gentry*, 363 S.C. 93, 610 S.E.2d 494 (2005).

State v. McGee, 408 S.C. 278, 287-88, 758 S.E.2d 730, 735-36 (2014).¹⁹

¹⁹ In *McGee*, this Court found that the danger of unfair prejudice did not substantially outweigh the probative value of evidence of defendant's theft of a tractor-trailer truck, and thus trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting this evidence as part of the *res gestae* in defendant's trial on charges of murder and burglary: the truck was stolen on the night before burglary of victim's home and fatal attack on victim, truck was found the following day about a mile from victim's home, truck's owner testified that it would have contained a winch rod in its tool box, a winch rod with victim's blood on it was found across the street from victim's home, and pry marks on victim's door were consistent

Pursuant to Rule 404(b), SCRE, “[e]vidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts is not admissible to prove the character of a person in order to show action in conformity therewith. It may, however, be admissible to show motive, identity, the existence of a common scheme or plan, the absence of mistake or accident, or intent.” *See also State v. Lyle*, 125 S.C. 406, 118 S.E. 803 (1923). To admit evidence of prior bad acts, the trial judge must first determine whether the proffered evidence is relevant. *State v. Clasby*, 385 S.C. 148, 154, 682 S.E.2d 892, 895 (2009). If the trial judge finds that the evidence is relevant, he or she must then determine whether the bad act evidence is admissible under Rule 404(b), SCRE. *Id.*

To be admissible, the bad act must logically relate to the crime with which the defendant has been charged. If the defendant was not convicted of the prior crime, evidence of the prior bad act must be clear and convincing.... When considering whether there is clear and convincing evidence of other bad acts, an appellate court is bound by the [circuit] court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous.

Clasby, 385 S.C. at 155, 682 S.E.2d at 895 (citations and internal quotation marks omitted).

Regardless of whether evidence is admitted as part of the *res gestae* or under Rule 404(b), the proffered evidence must also withstand a Rule 403 analysis. *See, e.g., McGee*, 408 S.C. at 288-89, 758 S.E.2d at 736.

While a number of cases from South Carolina involved testimony concerning a defendant's gang affiliation and several unpublished Opinions have upheld the introduction of this evidence,²⁰ neither this Court nor the South Carolina Supreme Court has expressly held that

with the winch rod. *Id.* at 289, 758 S.E.2d at 736.

²⁰ *E.g., State v. Jones*, 2013 WL 8541487 (S.C. Ct. App., Oct. 16, 2013) (unpublished); *Robinson*, 305 S.C. at 474-76, 409 S.E.2d at 408-09 (appellant was not entitled to mistrial on grounds that witness' testimony that gang was involved in drug operations linked appellant to drug dealing; witness' testimony did not imply that appellant was involved in drug dealing merely because witness knew him during time that witness was dealing drugs, and appellant had opened door to such evidence by eliciting testimony from another witness that gang was involved in drug dealing); *State v. Holland*, 261 S.C. 488, 500-02, 201 S.E.2d 118, 124-25 (1973) (motion for directed verdict properly denied in murder case, where State presented evidence that defendants, who were members of or connected

the prosecution may introduce evidence of a defendant's gang membership or affiliation, in a published Opinion.²¹ However, the United States Supreme Court and many other courts from other jurisdictions have upheld the admissibility of gang affiliation that activities associated with street gangs can be probative on the issues of identity, motive and other relevant matters. *See, e.g., United States v. Abel*, 469 U.S. 45, 49 (1984) (evidence showing that defendant and a defense witness were members of a prison gang and showing that this gang's tenets required its members to lie, cheat, steal and kill to protect each other was sufficiently probative of defense witness' possible bias toward defendant to warrant its admission into evidence in prosecution for

with motorcycle gang, had combined, conspired and agreed to go to clubhouse of another motorcycle club to steal motorcycles and that a person present at the club when defendants arrived was murdered by one or more of the defendants as a probable and natural consequence of acts done in pursuance of the common design).

²¹ In this Court's Opinion in *Liverman I*, the appellant asserted that the trial judge erred by allowing testimony by the prosecution's gang expert that "the hash marks on [the] appellant's back indicated he had bodies attributed to him, as this evidence placed his character at issue in violation of Rules 403 and 404(b), SCRE" *Liverman I*, 386 S.C. at 242, 687 S.E.2d at 79. However, this Court found that "[t]he precise argument appellant raises on appeal, that the hash mark testimony referred to prior homicides and thus violated Rules 403 and 404(b), was not raised to the trial judge and therefore is not preserved for review." *Id.* at 242, 687 S.E.2d at 80.

Alternatively, the Court found that "even if we assumed appellant's objection to the teardrop tattoo evidence as improper character propensity evidence, along with his general objection to any tattoo evidence, is sufficient to preserve his assertion on appeal that the hash mark evidence improperly placed his character in evidence and was unduly prejudicial, we find any error in the admission of this evidence to be harmless." *Id.* at 243, 687 S.E.2d at 80. Thus, the Court did not address whether the testimony was admissible. Further, the admissibility of this testimony was not raised on certiorari and was not addressed in *Liverman II*.

In *Price, supra*, the Court held that an officer's testimony that the appellant was a supreme or an officer within criminal street gang was inadmissible hearsay because the testimony was not based on his personal knowledge, but on information relayed to him by an informant. *Price*, 368 S.C. at 498-99, 629 SE2d at 365-66. It should be noted that the Court did not hold that a witness who had first-hand knowledge of a defendant's gang membership could not testify that the defendant was in a gang, provided his testimony was otherwise relevant.

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